20

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

OCT 07 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DILLON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Harry Easterling, Jr, Special Referee

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-000985

---

Bank of America, N. A. successor by merger to  
BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP f/k/a  
Countrywide Home Loans Servicing LLP,

Respondent

Vs.

Shawn L. Bethea,

Appellant,

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Shawn Bethea, Pro Se  
1317 Gordonville Court  
Dillon, South Carolina 29536

TABLE OF CONTENT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about February 6, 2012 Respondent filed its Summons and Complaint against Appellant and the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicle, seeking foreclosure and sale of property at 1317 Gordonville Court, Dillon, South Carolina. On or about March 3, 2012, Appellant filed a motion seeking dismissal of the Summons and Complaint, alleging that Respondent's action was barred by the doctrine of res judicata because the Respondent failed to answer or otherwise participate in an action which resulted in title to the mobile home being issued to Appellant. Appellant's motion to dismiss the Summons and Complaint was denied by order on or about June 4, 2012.

On or about June 13, 2012, Appellant filed an Answer and Counterclaim, denying Respondent's allegations and alleging that Appellant was not the legal owner of the property at the time Respondent executed a mortgage and that Respondent's foreclosure

action was barred by the doctrine of *res judicata*. Respondent filed a reply to Appellant's counterclaims on or about July 2, 2012. On or about April 25, 2013 Respondent filed a motion to dismiss Plaintiff's counterclaims.

On June 5, 2013, the action was referred to a Special Referee by order of the Court. On or about August 12, 2014, the Special Referee granted Respondent's motion to dismiss Appellant's counterclaims.

On or about October 10, 2014, Appellant filed a motion for summary judgement. A hearing on Respondent's motion for summary judgement was held on March 19, 2015. On March 27, 2015 the Special Referee issued an order granting Respondent's motion for summary judgement.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 20, 2000 Shirley Mcrae Davis (hereinafter "Davis") filed a plat with the Dillon County Clerk of Court's for a piece of land (hereinafter the "Land") she owned. (Transcript of Summary Judgment Hearing, Bank of America vs. Shawn Bethea, Case No. 12-cp-17-0060, March 19, 2015, pages 6-7; "hereinafter Trans. pp. \_\_\_\_"). Situated on the Land was a mobile home (hereinafter the "Mobile Home") Davis was purchasing. (Trans. p. 8). The Mobile Home had a mortgage lien. (Id.) On September 14, 2000 Davis filed an "Manufactured Housing Affidavit" with the Dillon County Tax Assessor's office. (Id.); (See also, Manufactured Housing Affidavit of Shirley McRae, Davis, dated September 20, 2000; Record of Appeal, p. \_\_\_\_; hereinafter "Rec. of App. p. \_\_\_\_").

Steve Rogers of the Dillon County Tax Assessor's office submitted a response to Davis' Manufactured Housing Affidavit, dated September 27, 2000, which stated in pertinent part:

RE: ADDING MH TO PROPERTY CARD IN ORDER TO RECEIVE TAX NOTICE

\* \* \*

Based upon the foregoing and upon the Manufactured Housing Affidavit attached, the undersigned will cause said home to be listed on the same tax notice as the land referred to herein.

\* \* \*

PS

PLEASE KEEP IN MIND THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WILL NOT OCCUR UNTIL 2001 TAX YEAR BECAUSE THAT IS WHEN THE LAND AND MOBILE HOME WILL APPEAR ON THE TAX RECORDS. ALSO, THIS MOBILE HOME WILL **NOT BE DETITLED**. IT WILL STILL BE CLASSED AS SUCH. IT IS ONLY BEING ADDED WITH THE LAND SO THAT THE PROPERTY OWNER CAN RECEIVE ONE TAX NOTICE INSTEAD OF TWO.

(Memorandum of Steve Rogers, dated September 27, 2000; Record of App., p. \_\_\_\_; hereinafter "Rec. of App., p. \_\_\_\_").

Sometime thereafter, Davis executed a general warrant deed, transferring the Land to LaSalle National Bank. (Trans., p. 9-10). The Land was transferred to Appellant by Corporate Title to Real Estate, executed by LaSalle National Bank on November 13, 2001. (Trans., p. 11); (See also, Corporation Title To Real Estate of LaSalle National Bank, dated November 13, 2001, Rec. of App., p. \_\_\_\_). The Corporation Title to Real included a paragraph referencing the Mobile Home. (See, Rec. of App., p. \_\_\_\_). Attorney Steven G. Mikell (hereinafter "Attorney Mikell") was the closing attorney. (Id.).

The Land was refinanced multiple times between 2001 through 2002, with the last refinancing with Country Wide Home Loans, which subsequently was acquired by Respondent. (Trans. pp. 14-17). Neither refinancing made direct references to the Mobile Home, however the documents referenced fixtures to the Land. (Trans. pp. 14-17).

In 2010 Attorney Mikell made attempts to persuade EMC Mortgage, the successor to LaSalle National Bank to submit a clean title to the Mobile Home after Appellant was unable to refinance the Mobile Home because the Mobile Home title remained in the name of Davis. (Letter of Steven G. Mikell to EMC Mortgage, date October 18, 2010; Rec. of App., p. \_\_\_\_). By handwritten letter dated December 23, 2010 Attorney Mikell apologized to Appellant for failing to have title to the Mobile Home transferred to Appellant upon the purchase of Land by Corporate Title to Real Estate of LaSalle National Bank in November 2001. (Letter from Steven G. Mikell to Shawn, dated December 23, 2010; Rec. of App., p. \_\_\_\_).

When Attorney Mikell was unable to persuade EMC Mortgage to issue a title to Appellant, Shawn Bethea filed an action with the Dillon County Magistrate Court naming as defendants Shirley Mcrae Davis, The Citizen Bank, Bank of America, N. A., and Fleet Mortgage Group seeking the sale of the Mobile Home to satisfy storage charges he has assess against Davis, the title holder, and all potential mortgage companies with some interest in the Mobile Home. (Trans. p. 22-27), (See also, Notice of Public Sale of Mobile Home, Shawn Bethea v. Shirley Mcrae Davis, et al., Case No. 2011cv17101000987, Rec. of App. p. \_\_\_\_). The Dillon

County Magistrate Court ordered sale of the Mobile Home at public action when no named defendant answered or otherwise plead. Id.

## ARGUMENT

### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing a grant of summary judgment by a trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC, the appellate court applies the same standard.”

Froneberger, et al. v. Smith, 406 S.C. 37; 748 S.E.2d 625, 629 (S.C. App. 2013);

Quoting, Turner v. Milliman, 392 S.C. 116, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011).

“Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law.” Id. “To determine whether any trial issues of fact exist, the reviewing court must consider the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Id., quoting, quoting, McLaughlin v. Williams, 379 S.C. 451; 665 S.E.2d 667 (Ct. App. 2008). “To withstand a motion for summary judgment in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence.” Id., quoting, Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co. Inc., 381 S.C. 326; 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009). “The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact.” Id., quoting, Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204; 616 S.E.2d 722 (Ct. App. 2005).

### I. WHETHER THE SPECIAL REFEREE ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHERE THE MOBILE HOME HAD BEEN SOLD BY THE MAGISTATE

**COURT AS A RESULT OF AN ACTION WHICH THE  
RESPONDENT WAS NAMED AND SERVED AS A PARTY?**

Section 29-15-10(A) of South Carolina law states is in pertinent part:

(A) A proprietor, an owner, or an operator of any towing company, storage facility, garage, or repair shop, or any person who repairs or furnishes any material for repairs to an article may sell the article at public auction to the highest bidder if:

- (1) the article has been left at the shop for repairs or storage and the repairs have been completed or the storage contract has expired;
- (2) the article has been continuously retained in his possession; and
- (3) thirty days have passed since written notice was given to the owner of the article and to any lienholder that the repairs have been completed or the storage contract has expired.

The article must be sold by a magistrate of the county in which the repairs were done or the article was stored.

29-15-10(A) permit any proprietor, owner, or operator of a towing company, storage facility, garage, repair shop, or any other person who repairs or furnishes any material for repairs to any article may petition the local magistrate court for the sale of that article to recover money for repairs or storage of the article. S.C. Code Ann. §29-15-10(A) (2011). By memorandum dated March 21, 2011, Appellant notified Davis, the named property owner, that he intended to charge storage on the Mobile Home because it had not been removed from the Land. (Notice of Storage Charges by Shawn Bethea, dated March 21, 2011; Rec. of App. \_\_\_\_). Around August 31, 2011, Appellant filed an action pursuant to 29-15-10(A) for storage fees he was due. Id. Davis, Bank of America, N.A., The Citizen Bank, and Fleet Mortgage Group were all named as party defendants and served with the summons and complaint. (Trans. pp. 22-27) (See also, Magistrate Court Summons; Case No. 2011cv1710100987, dated August 31, 2011; Rec. of

App., p. \_\_\_\_). After no defendant answer or otherwise plead, the magistrate court order the sale of the Mobile Home and scheduled a hearing for September 26, 2011. (Rec. of App., p. \_\_\_\_). When no defendants appear at the September 26, 2011 hearing, the Mobile Home was sold by the magistrate court. The Mobile Home was purchased by Appellant and a title issued on October 3, 2011 in the name of Appellant.

Respondent's foreclosure action was barred because the interest and ownership of the Mobile Home was litigated in the magistrate court action. The Respondent was named as a defendant, with all opportunity to assert its rights or interests, and the ownership of the Mobile Home was completely adjudicated when the Mobile Home was sold by the magistrate court.

"In order for *res judicata* operate as a bar to [to a legal action] ... the following elements needed to be proven: (1) identity of the parties; (2) identity of the subject matter; and (3) adjudication of the issue in the former suit. Judy v. Judy, 393 S.C. 160; 712 S.E.2d 408, 412 (S.C. 2011).

It is anticipated that Respondent will argue that the magistrate lacked jurisdiction to because the Mobile Home had been permanently affixed to the Land pursuant to the September 20, 2000 Manufactured Housing Affidavit of Davis. (Rec. of App., p. \_\_\_\_). However, the Dillon County Tax Assessor deny Davis' petition to permanently affix the Mobile Home to the Land. (Rec. of App., p. \_\_\_\_). In written response to Davis' affidavit, the tax assessor notified Davis that the Mobile Home would not be detitled and that the Mobile Home would only be affixed for billing purposes only. (Id.).

**II. WHETHER THE SPECIAL REFEREE ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FINDING THAT**

**APPELLANT WAS BARRED FROM ASSERTING THAT THE  
MOBIL HOME WAS NOT A FIXTURE TO THE LAND  
PURSUANT OF THE DOCTRINE OF JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL**

The purpose of judicial prevent a litigant from manipulating the judicial system by takin completely inconsistent positions in a judicial proceeding when it becomes convenient. Quinn v. Sharon Corp., 343 S.C. 411, 540 S.E.2d 474 (S.C. App. 2000). Judicial estoppel is intended to protect the integrity of the judicial process, not the protection of litigants from improper conduct by an adverse party. Id.

In the present case, Respondent claims that Appellant should be judicial estopped from alleged the Mobile Home is not a permanent fixture to the Land because the Mobile Home was listed as a real property in his Schedule A Chapter 7 bankruptcy filing. However, such listing is not the type of inconsistency that bring into to question the integrity of the foreclosure proceeding. Bankruptcy are complicated form driven judicial actions. Appellant hire and relied on his attorney to prepare the documents correctly (Trans. p. 27). Furthermore, Respondent could not take advantage of the doctrine of judicial estoppel because he is without clean hands.

The doctrine of unclean hands precludes a plaintiff from recovering in equity if he acted unfairly in a matter that is the subject of the litigation to the prejudice of the defendant." First Union Nat'l Bank of S.C. v. Soden, 333 S.C. 554, 568, 511 S.E.2d 372, 379 (Ct.App.1998). "The expression 'clean hands' means a clean record with respect to the transaction with the defendants themselves and not with respect to others." Arnold v. City of Spartanburg, 201 S.C. 523, 532, 23 S.E.2d 735, 738 (1943). The rule must be understood to refer to some misconduct concerning the matter in litigation of which the opposing party can, in good conscience, complain in a court of equity.

Respondent is without clean hands in this action because Respondent failed to defend its interest in the magistrate court action after it was properly served and provided notice of Appellant attempt to content title and interest in that action. Responded had every opportunity to protect its interest in the Mobile Home but failed to do so. Now Respondent claims foul when Appellant raised the issue that the Mobile Home was never detitled and it was on notice of the same before filing the foreclosure action.

**III. THE SEPECIAL REFEREE ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FINDING THAT THE MOBILE HOME HAD BEEN DETITLED AND MADE A PERMANENT FIXTURE TO THE LAND**

Respondent knew or should have known that the Mobile Home was never detitled and made a permanent fixture to the Land. By the Dillon County Tax Assessor's memorandum/letter dated September 27, 2000, the tax assessor stated in bold language:

**PLEASE KEEP IN MIND THAT THESE TRANSACTIONS WILL NOT OCCUR UNTIL 2001 TAX YEAR BECAUSE THAT IS WHEN THE LAND AND MOBILE HOME WILL APPEAR ON THE TAX RECORDS. ALSO, THIS MOBILE HOME WILL NOT BE DETITLED. ITS WILL STILL BE CLASSED AS SUCH. IT IS ONLY BING ADDED WITH THE LAND SO THAT THE PROPERTY OWNER CAN RECEIVE ONE TAX NOTICE INSTEAD OF TWO.**

(Rec. of App., p. \_\_\_\_). Respondent was always aware of this and took action correct that matter; however, misrepresented to the court that the Mobile Home was permanent affixed to the Land by Davis's Manufactured Home Affidavit.

**CONCLUSION**

Based upon the forgoing arguments and law, Appellant believes that the Special Referee abused its discretion and committed reversible error by granting Respondent's motion for summary judgment.

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM DILLON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Harry Easterling, Jr. Special Referee

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000985

Bank of America, N.A., successor by merger to  
BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP f/k/a  
Countrywide Home Loan Servicing, LLP,

Respondent

Vs.

Shawn L. Bethea,

Appellant,

---

DESIGNATION OF MATTER TO BE INCLUDED IN THE RECORD ON  
APPEAL

---

Appellant proposes the following matter to be included in the Record on Appeal:

1. This is a copy of the ruling on September 26, 2011 in the Magistrate's Court in Dillon County at 10:00am pertaining only to the mobile home, because it was not a part of the real property.
2. This is a copy of the manufactured housing affidavit that Ms. Shirely McRae Davis requested so that she could receive one tax bill, but the mobile home title was not detitled. It will stay as such.
3. This a copy of the summary judgment that the special referee ruled on March 19, 2015.
4. This a copy of the summons and complaint that Bank Of America filed on FEB. 6, 2012 seeking foreclosure and sale on my property.
5. This is showing where I filed a Motion to Dismiss on May 25, 2012 with Clerk Office.
6. This is a copy of the counterclaim that Attorney Woodson filed with Clerk of Court in Dillon on June, 13 2012
7. This a copy of the certificate of service from Bank of America asking the courts to dismiss the counterclaim on April 24, 2013.
8. This is a copy of Motion to dismiss that Bank of America filed on Aug. 12, 2014
9. This is a copy of the transcript to the testimony that was held on March 19, 2015 1-87 pages
10. This is a copy of motion for summary judgment that was made on March 27, 2015
11. This is a copy of a general warrant deed; transferring the land to LaSalle National Bank on NOV. 13, 2011
12. These copies are the disbursements at closings NOV. 13, 2001, May 23, 2002, and NOV. 22, 2015.
13. This is a copy of a letter that Mr. Mikell wrote EMC MORTGAGE on Oct. 18, 2010

14. This is a handwritten letter from Mr. Mikell to ME apologizing for not clearing my title to my mobile home on DEC.23,2010.
  15. This is a copy of the storage charges I assessed against Ms. Davis and potential mortgage companies with interest in the mobile home on March 21,2011