THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DILLON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Harry R. Easterling, Jr., Special Referee

Case No. 2012-CP-17-0060
Court of Appeals No. 2015-000985

RECEIVED

MAR 04 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Bank of America, N.A. successor by merger to BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP f/k/a
Countrywide Home Loans Servicing, LP..... Respondent.

v.

Shawn L. Bethea; South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles, Defendants,
Of whom Shawn L. Bethea is the.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

Trent M. Grissom
S.C. Bar No. 77718
MCGUIREWOODS LLP
201 North Tryon Street
Suite 3000
Charlotte, NC 28202
Tel: (704) 343-2162

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the mobile home is a permanent fixture on the property.
- II. Whether the special referee properly granted summary judgment to Bank of America.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2002, Shawn Bethea executed a promissory note for \$49,147 in favor of Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (“Note”). (R. p. 12.) To secure repayment of this Note, he also executed a mortgage (“Mortgage”) on the property located at 1317 Gordonville Court in Dillon, South Carolina. (R. p. 12.) Bethea ultimately defaulted on the Note, and Bank of America, N.A. (who had become the holder of the Note and Mortgage) sought to foreclose on the property, based on the Mortgage. (R. p. 16.)

Prior to Bethea’s purchase of the lot and mobile home, the lot and mobile home were owned by Shirley McRae Davis. (R. pp. 179, 202–06.) After Davis purchased the lot and mobile home, she filed a Manufactured Home Affidavit with the Dillon County Tax Assessor’s Office requesting that the land and home be taxed as one parcel. (R. pp. 6–7.¹) In addition to the Manufactured Housing Affidavit, the mobile home is shown on a plat recorded in Book 29 at Page 194 of the Dillon County public registry, indicating that the mobile home is a permanent fixture to the real property. (R. p. 179, 201) Finally, in November 2001, Davis executed a Deed in Lieu of foreclosure to LaSalle National Bank. That deed specifically referenced the mobile home in the legal description. (R. p. 202–06.)

¹ This affidavit was filed in September 2000. S.C. Code § 56-19-510 (which allows a person to retire title to a mobile home by (1) making it a fixture on the land by removing the wheels, axles, and towing hitch and (2) filing an affidavit with the register of deeds) was not enacted until 2005. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 56-19-510(A). Because this statute had not yet been enacted, Davis’s affidavit had the effect of having the land and home taxed as one parcel, but did not legally retire the title to the home.

Bethea purchased the mobile home and lot from LaSalle National Bank in November 2001. (R. p. 179.) Both the deed conveying the property to Bethea and the mortgage securing the loan specifically referenced the mobile home in their respective legal descriptions. (R. pp. 64–66, 207–18.) Bethea refinanced the mortgage debt on the property twice following the purchase—the second of which resulted in the execution of the Note at issue here. (R. pp. 179–80.) The mobile home was not specifically referenced in the mortgage document for the second refinance because it had been treated as a permanent fixture both by Davis and Bethea up to the time of that refinance. (R. pp. 179–80.)

On July 23, 2004, Bethea filed a petition under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. (R. p. 121.) As part of that proceeding, Bethea was obligated to list his real and personal property in the appropriate schedules of his petition. In “Schedule A – Real Property,” Bethea specifically listed his land and the mobile home as a real property asset. (R. p. 125.)

In 2010, Bethea discovered that the certificate of title to the mobile home was never transferred into his name following his purchase in 2001. (R. p. 180.) Initially, Bethea engaged Steven Mikell to assist him with having the certificate of title changed to his name and to remove the lien on the title from Alliance Funding, the lender that Davis used to purchase the home. (R. p. 180.) Ultimately, Bethea became frustrated with the time it was taking to clear up the title issue, so he terminated Mikell as his attorney. (R. p. 180.)

On March 21, 2011 (and after having terminated Mikell), Bethea mailed a one-page letter to various people and entities informing them that the mobile home located on

his property should be removed or he would begin charging \$1,000 per month, plus a \$100 late fee, presumably for the storage of the home on his land. (R. p. 101.) Bethea then filed this letter in the magistrate court for Dillon County, Case No. 2011-CV-1710100987, seeking a public sale of the mobile home. (R. pp. 227–32.) The magistrate court issued an order stating that the mobile home would be sold at auction on September 26, 2011, based on the storageman’s lien found in S.C. Code § 29-15-10. (R. p. 233.) Mr. Bethea was deemed to be the winning bidder at the sale. (R. p. 234.) Subsequently, the title to the mobile home was issued in the name of Shawn Lee Bethea on October 3, 2011. (R. p. 105.) Even after getting the mobile home titled in his name, Bethea failed to make his monthly payments pursuant to the Note and Mortgage. (R. p. 16.)

After Bethea became delinquent on his payments, the Note was declared in default, with an unpaid balance of \$43,175.82 and accruing interest at a rate of 6.875% per annum. (*Id.*) On February 6, 2012, Bank of America filed a complaint for foreclosure of the Note and Mortgage. (R. pp. 185–90.) In addition to the foreclosure claim, the complaint also sought declaratory relief asking the court to find that the 2001 Pioneer Mobile Home, Serial #PH1124GA17807AB was a permanent fixture and subject to Bank of America’s mortgage lien. (R. pp. 187–89.)

Bethea, representing himself, initially moved to dismiss the complaint. (R. pp. 31–32.) Shortly thereafter, he filed an answer and counterclaims through counsel. (R. pp. 34–37.) Bank of America moved to dismiss the counterclaims. Bank of America’s foreclosure claim was referred to the special referee by order of the circuit court judge. The court held a hearing on Bank of America’s motion to dismiss, ultimately granting that motion and dismissing the counterclaims. (R. pp. 191–92.)

Bank of America then sought summary judgment on its foreclosure claim. (R. pp. 194–95). Again, a hearing was held on the motion, this time before the special referee, and again, the motion was granted. (R. pp. 8–21.) Bethea timely appealed that final judgment. (R. pp. 197–200.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard that the lower court applies pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRCP. *Froneberger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 46, 748 S.E.2d 625, 629 (Ct. App. 2013). “Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as matter of law.” *Id.* (quoting *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 112, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011)). Once the moving party has satisfied its burden of showing that there are no genuine issues of material fact, the nonmoving party “may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings.” *Hoard ex rel. Hoard v. Roper Hosp., Inc.*, 387 S.C. 539, 549, 694 S.E.2d 1, 6 (2010) (quoting *SSI Med. Servs., Inc. v. Cox*, 301 S.C. 493, 497, 392 S.E.2d 789, 792 (1990)).

Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine, dependent upon the facts and circumstances of each case. *Carigg v. Cannon*, 347 S.C. 75, 84, 552 S.E.2d 767, 772 (Ct. App. 2001). Application of the doctrine is in the discretion of the trial court. *Id.* An abuse of discretion occurs only when the court’s rulings “either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Graves v. CAS Med. Sys., Inc.*, 401 S.C. 63, 74, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012) (quoting *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)).

ARGUMENT

Bethea's goal is to retain possession of the mobile home on the property, and his argument for retaining possession of the mobile home hinges on his contention that the mobile home was not a permanent fixture on the land and, thus, not subject to the Mortgage. This argument, however, has no merit. Bethea cannot rely on the 2011 magistrate court's judgment because that judgment is void. Moreover, the special referee was within his discretion to hold that Bethea was judicially estopped from arguing that the mobile home was not a permanent fixture based on Bethea's assertions in his bankruptcy proceeding. In light of these determinations, the only evidence in the record shows that the mobile home is a permanent fixture. Based on all of these conclusions, the special referee properly granted summary judgment to Bank of America.

I. The Mobile Home Is a Permanent Fixture.

A. Bethea Cannot Rely on the Magistrate Court's Judgment Because that Judgment Is Void.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized that “[a] judgment of a court without subject-matter jurisdiction is void.” *Coon v. Coon*, 364 S.C. 563, 566, 614 S.E.2d 616, 617 (2005). Subject-matter jurisdiction, of course, “is the ‘power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.’” *Id.* (quoting *Dove v. Gold Kist*, 314 S.C. 235, 237–38, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994)). Thus, it “is fundamental” to a court entering an order. *Badeaux v. Davis*, 337 S.C. 195, 205, 522 S.E.2d 835, 840 (Ct. App. 1999). Accordingly, when a court lacks this power but enters a judgment anyway, the lack of subject-matter jurisdiction is a basis to consider the judgment void. *Katzburg v. Katzburg*, 410 S.C. 184, 187, 764 S.E.2d 3, 5 (Ct. App. 2014).

In this case, the special referee correctly determined the magistrate court order was void for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction. (R. pp. 14–15.) Although not clear in Bethea’s magistrate court pleading that the title to land was in question, other documents and statements made by Bethea leave no doubt that he was attempting to resolve a title issue to his property: Both the deed and mortgage that Bethea signed specifically referenced the mobile home as part of the real property in the legal description. (R. pp. 64–66, 207–18.) Additionally, Bethea even admitted during the summary judgment hearing in this case that he purchased the mobile home and land as one unit, which means that resolving title to the mobile home implicated the title to real property. (R. p. 41, pg. 12, lines 7–9.) A magistrate court, however, has no jurisdiction to resolve title to real property. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-20 (“No magistrate shall have cognizance of a civil action . . . [w]hen the title to real property shall come in question, except as provided in Article 11 of this chapter.”).² Therefore, the magistrate court’s order resolving title to real property is void, as that court lacked jurisdiction to issue an enforceable judgment.³

² No provision of Article 11 applies to Bethea’s magistrate court proceeding. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-1110, *et seq.*

³ Although this case is not an appeal of the magistrate court’s order, the special referee did correctly recognize that the storageman’s provision of S.C. Code § 29-15-10 could not apply to Bethea’s magistrate court complaint. That statute provides that “[a] proprietor, an owner, or an operator of any towing company, storage facility, garage, or repair shop, or any person who repairs or furnishes any material for repairs to an article may sell the article at public auction to the highest bidder if” certain conditions are met. S.C. Code Ann. § 29-15-10(A) (emphasis added). From the plain language in the statute, anyone making a claim pursuant to this provision must first be the owner or operator of storage facility or garage. Bethea does not fit this description, as he admitted during the summary judgment hearing before the special referee. (R. p. 53, pg. 60, lines 19–24.)

Because this judgment was void, Bethea cannot point to it as evidence that the mobile home was personal property, rather than a fixture to the real property secured by the Mortgage.⁴

B. The Special Referee Was Within His Discretion in Precluding Bethea from Arguing that the Mobile Home Was Not a Permanent Fixture.

Judicial estoppel protects the “the integrity of the judicial process.” *Cothran v. Brown*, 357 S.C. 210, 215; 592 S.E.2d 629, 631 (2004). The doctrine “is an equitable concept that prevents a litigant from asserting a position inconsistent with, or in conflict with, one the litigant has previously asserted in the same or related proceeding.” *Id.* The South Carolina Supreme Court has adopted a five-part test for the doctrine to apply:

- (1) two inconsistent positions taken by the same party or parties in privity with one another;
- (2) the positions must be taken in the same or related proceedings involving the same party or parties in privity with each other;
- (3) the party taking the position must have been successful in maintaining that position and have received some benefit;
- (4) the inconsistency must be part of an intentional effort to mislead the court; and
- (5) the two positions must be totally inconsistent.

Id. at 215–16.

The special referee barred Bethea “from denying that the mobile home is collateral under the mortgage” under the doctrine of judicial estoppel. (R. 14.) All five elements are satisfied here, so the special referee did not abuse his discretion by applying the doctrine.

⁴ Bethea argues that Bank of America is prohibited from pursuing the foreclosure because it failed to respond to his magistrate court complaint. Because the magistrate court lacked subject-matter jurisdiction, that argument is ultimately irrelevant. But in any event, that argument fails because Bank of America was never properly served. The magistrate summons issued to Bank of America was addressed to a general post office box in Charlotte, North Carolina and not the agent for service of process or officer or managing agent, in violation of Rule 6(d)(3), SCRMC. (R. p. 230.)

First, the first and fifth elements are met: the same party has taken totally inconsistent positions. Bethea has taken the position that the mobile home was a permanent fixture on the real property in his 2004 bankruptcy proceeding. (R. p. 125; *see also* R. p. 14.) However, at the summary judgment hearing in this case, Bethea argued that the mobile home is personal property not subject to the mortgage lien upon which Bank of America was seeking to foreclose. (R. p. 41, pg. 9, lines 13–15; R. p. 55, pg. 68, lines 20–21; *see also* Appellant Br. 11.) These positions that Bethea has taken at different times are completely inconsistent with one another, thereby meeting the first and fifth requirements of the *Cothran* test.

As for the second element, in his bankruptcy proceeding, Bethea listed the mobile home and the land as a real property asset, which allowed him to remain in the home and the land to remain titled in his name. (R. p. 125.) Now, in a foreclosure hearing affecting the title to the same property, he took the position that the mortgage lien on real property does not apply to the mobile home because the mobile home is personal property. Because these proceedings both involve the property at 1317 Gordonville Court in Dillon and the mobile home, the two proceedings are related. *See, e.g., Quinn v. Sharon Corp.*, 343 S.C. 411, 415, 540 S.E.2d 474, 476 (Ct. App. 2000) (holding that this element of judicial estoppel was met when a party had claimed in earlier litigation related to a corporation that he was not the owner, but in the current litigation (not involving all of the same parties as the earlier litigation) that same party had asserted that he was the owner).

Third, Bethea was successful in maintaining his position that the mobile home was a permanent fixture in the bankruptcy proceeding, and he benefited from taking this

position that the mobile home and land were one asset in his bankruptcy proceeding as he was allowed to discharge the debt, making him immune to a deficiency judgment and able to continue living in the home. (R. p. 106.) Thus, the third element of the *Cothran* test is satisfied.

Finally, Bethea's purpose in taking the position that the mobile home is personal property was to mislead the court in the foreclosure proceeding. Bethea offered no defense to the foreclosure action itself. Rather, he simply argued that he should be able to keep his mobile home. (*Cf.* Appellant's Br.) Given the fact that he took advantage of treating the mobile home as a permanent fixture by paying lower taxes on the real property as his homestead up until the special referee's entry of summary judgment (R. p. 46, pg. 30, lines 22–25), the only reasonable conclusion that can be drawn from Bethea's position in this case is that he wanted to keep the mobile home out of the foreclosure. Despite telling the bankruptcy court that the mobile home was a permanent fixture, in this case, Bethea used the void magistrate court judgment in an attempt to mislead the special referee into ruling that the mobile home was his personal property. The fourth element of the *Cothran* is, therefore, met.

Ultimately, Bethea's irreconcilable positions on whether the mobile home was a permanent fixture is the type of inconsistent assertion that the doctrine of judicial estoppel seeks to prevent. The special referee was well within his discretion to apply the doctrine here and preclude Bethea from asserting that the mobile home was not a permanent fixture.

C. The Only Evidence in the Record Makes Clear that the Mobile Home Is a Permanent Fixture.

The special referee's determination that the mobile home on Bethea's land was a permanent fixture and part of the collateral secured by the mortgage is the only conclusion that any evidence in the record supports. (R. p. 15.)

During the hearing, nine documents were offered into evidence demonstrating that the mobile home was always treated as a permanent fixture upon Bethea's property, including five from the public record. The documents include: (1) the recorded plat showing the mobile home on the parcel of land, (R. p. 201.); (2) the manufactured housing affidavit that Davis filed, requesting that the mobile home and land be taxed as a single parcel, (R. pp. 6-7.); (3) the deed in lieu that Davis gave to LaSalle National Bank with the mobile home referenced in the legal description, (R. pp. 202-06.); (4) the deed from LaSalle National Bank to Bethea with the mobile home referenced in the legal description, (R. pp. 64-66); (5) the mortgage executed by Bethea from his initial purchase of the property with the mobile home referenced in the legal description, (R. pp. 207-18.); (6) the affidavit of Steven Mikell in which he testified that the mobile home and land had always been treated as one parcel, (R. pp. 179-80.); (7) Bethea's loan application executed in November 2002 in which the mobile home is listed as part of the real estate, (R. pp. 219-25); (8) the tax receipt from the Dillon County Treasurer showing taxes being paid on the land and an improvement, (R. p. 226); and (9) Schedule A from Bethea's bankruptcy filing that lists the mobile home and parcel of land as a real property asset, (R. p. 125.) In addition to these nine documents, Bethea admitted under oath during the hearing that he intended to purchase the home and the land as one parcel. (R.

p. 41, pg. 12, lines 7–9.) Finally, Bethea had claimed the homestead exemption on his taxes for years. (R. p. 48, pg. 39, lines 1–2.)

In the face of this overwhelming evidence, Bethea pointed to no admissible evidence to support his contention that the mobile home was not a permanent fixture. (R. p. 57, pg. 74, lines 15–21.) Therefore, there was no genuine dispute over whether the mobile home was a permanent fixture and subject to the Mortgage, and the special referee properly analyzed Bank of America’s summary judgment motion based on the fact that the mobile home was a permanent fixture.

II. Because the Mobile Home Is a Permanent Fixture and Subject to the Mortgage, The Special Referee Properly Granted Summary Judgment to Bank of America.

The special referee correctly granted summary judgment for Bank of America. The evidence clearly established that Bank of America held the Mortgage on the property (which includes the mobile home, as a permanent fixture), Bethea defaulted on the terms of the Note, and under the terms of the Note and Mortgage, Bank of America is entitled foreclose on the property.

Bethea offered no evidence to contradict these simple yet critical facts. In fact, his entire argument on appeal is really focused on whether the mobile home is a permanent fixture. He points to no evidence that, once the special referee found that the mobile home was a permanent fixture, could have shown that summary judgment was improper. Indeed, there is no evidence to which Bethea can point to make such an argument.⁵ Without any evidence to which he can point, he cannot show that summary